


Westhab will not agree, however, that the Village will have the right to terminate the contract if a
legal challenge to the preference program is commenced. In a subsequent email, on November 7,
2024, Mr. Curti advised me that Westhab would agree to defend and indemnify the Village in such
a lawsuit.

Defense and indemnification is not, in my opinion, sufficient to protect the Village in these
circumstances; that requires the right to terminate if litigation over the preference program is
commenced. The term sheet and contract must at least provide that Westhab cannot begin
construction until the time within which to commence such litigation has passed and must address
what happens if such litigation is commenced after construction has begun.

The risk of litigation over the preference is real. The Town of Bedford was sued in 2017 over
such a preference program by the same organization that successfully sued Westchester County.
Bedford settled immediately. Copies of the complaint and settiement agreement are attached. The
Village may be in different circumstances because of the flooding, and I still believe a preference
program is possible, but there is no judicial authority holding that such a program can pass muster
under the Fair Housing Act.

Those Board members who defined the threshold conditions said very clearly that their goal
was to ensure that the project would require a preference for Village residents and that the Village
should not agree that Westhab’s project should be able to go forward without it. Without protection
in the contract, litigation could result in a project without such a preference.

If Westhab’s proposal on this issue is nevertheless acceptable, the next step would be for the
Board to discuss the remaining issues outlined in my October 28, 2024 email and give the
negotiating team direction with respect to those issues. A final term sheet could be negotiated after
that.

It is nevertheless my recommendation that negotiations with Westhab be terminated because
Westhab’s continued and consistent knowledge of the Village’s privileged and confidential
communications has made it impossible to negotiate the term sheet in a way that protects the
interests of the Village.

During the Board’s most recent discussion of this matter, T asked all Board members to refrain
from having independent conversations with representatives of Westhab. It is not possible for me
to have privileged and confidential attorney-client communications with the members of the
Board, and for the negotiating team to do its job effectively if the substance of those
communications is being transmitted to Westhab. It has become apparent to me, however, that
what I feared is actually happening.

On Wednesday and Thursday of this week, I spoke with two members of the Board of Trustees
confidentially about my concern that Westhab would not agree that the Village could cancel the
contract if someone sued to set aside the resident preference program that the Board has determined
is essential to the deal. Within 12 hours of the initial conversation and a half-hour of the second
conversation, I received an email from counsel for Westhab stating that Westhab had thought
further about its position on that issue and would agree to defend and indemnify the Village in
such a lawsuit. That email established to me that the substance of my privileged and confidential
conversation had been shared immediately with Westhab. That may be a violation of the fiduciary
duty of the Board member who communicated with Westhab; I have not researched the issue. But
the fact that such communications continue to be made makes it impossible for me or any attorney
to communicate in a privileged and confidential way with the Board of Trusiees. Such
communication is essential to negotiate effectively with Westhab, I recommend, therefore, that
negotiations with Westhab be terminated.







Robert SEolzino

From: Michael Curti <michael.curti@westhab.org>

Sent: Wednesday, September 18, 2024 4:19 PM
To: Robert Spolzino
Subject: Hunter Tier

Cautlon: This email originated outside of the organization

Thank you for connecting with me this morning regarding the Hunter Tier developer negotiations.
Because it is typically the purchaser's responsibility, we are in the process of preparing a term sheet
based on our best and final for Chuck and the other members of the negotiatingteam to digest. We
should have that to you in a few days. | will also share a copy of a PSA/COS I've used in 2 successful
Yonkers affordable deals, one of which included public parking. Of course, we acknowledge that the
Village as tandowner will need to prepare the PSA/COS, but we thought these samptes may be hetpfulin
putting that together.

Best Regards, MVC




LAND DISPOSITION AGREEMENT

between

VILLAGE OF MAMARONECK,
as Seller

and

WASHINGTONVILLE HOUSING ALLIANCE, INC.,
as Purchaser

Dated as of
_,2024

Village of Mamaroneck
141 Prospect Avenue
Village of Mamaroneck, New York 10543

Section 9 Block 289 Lot 7

PLEASE RECORD AND RETURN TO:




THIS AGREEMENT, dated as of _, 2024 is between the Village of
Mamaroneck, a municipal corporation having an office at 123 Mamaroneck Avenue,
Mamaroneck, New York 10543 (the “SELLER”), and Washingtonville Housing Alliance, Inc., a
not-for-profit corporation organized under the laws of the State of New York, having an office at
136 Library Lane, Mamaroneck, New York 10543, or any entity formed by them for the purposes
contained in this Agreement (the “PURCHASER”).

WHEREAS, the Seller is the owner of the Subject Property, which is presently being
utilized as a municipal public parking lot known as the “Hunter Tier Lot”; and

WHEREAS, the SELLER has deemed the Subject Property to be surplus property and is
desirous of conveying the property to a qualified developer in the interest of economic
revitalization; and

WHEREAS, by No. 20 adopted by the

on 20 , the terms and provisions of this Agreement

were approved and disposition of the Subject Property to PURCHASER contemplated herein was
authorized and approved; and

WHEREAS, the Subject Property is to be conveyed to the PURCHASER by the SELLER
for the purpose of constructing or causing to be constructed a building or buildings all in
compliance with the Code of the Village of Mamaroneck, and in accordance with New York State
and local law, rule, policy, or regulation relating to the Seller and any other applicable laws, rules
and regulations; and

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and of the mutual covenants and
agreements herein contained, and other good and valuable consideration, the mutual receipt and
legal sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the SELLER and the PURCHASER hereby
covenant and agree as follows: :

ARTICLEI
DEFINITIONS

As used herein, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

A dditional Title Defects” has the meaning set forth in Section 14.3 hereof.

“Affiliate” or “Affiliates” means (a) in the case of any Person, a Person which, directly or
indirectly, controls, is controlled by or is under common control with such Person, or (b) any
individual who is a member of the immediate family (whether by birth or marriage) of an
individual who is an Affiliate. For purposes of this definition the phrase “member of the immediate
family” includes a spouse; a brother or sister of the whole or half-blood of such individual or his
spouse; a lineal descendant or ancestor (including an individual related by or through legal
adoption) of any of the foregoing or a trust for the benefit of any of the foregoing. For purposes
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of the foregoing definition, “control” (including “controlled by” and “under common control
with”) shall mean possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of
the management policies of the entity in question, whether through the ownership of voting
securities, partnership interests, or by agreement or otherwise. For the purposes of this Agreement,
a housing development finance corporation, limited liability company, general partnership or
limited partnership created by PURCHASER for the purpose of constructing or owning the
Project, shall be considered an Affiliate.

“Agreement” means this Land Disposition Agreement and all exhibits hereto and all
amendments, modifications and supplements hereof.

“Building Department” means the Department of Housing and Buildings of the Village.

“Closing” means the delivery of the Deed by SELLER upon payment of the Purchase Price
by PURCHASER, in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

“Closing Date” means the date on which the Closing occurs.

“Conceptual Development Plan” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1 hereof.
“County” means the County of Westchester, New York.

“DEC” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3 hereof.

“Escrow Agent” has the meaning set forth in Section 16.24 hereof.

“Event of Default” has the meaning set forth in Section 12.1 hereof with respect to
PURCHASER and in Section 12.4 with respect to SELLER.

“Final” with respect to the Governmental Approvals, means all applicable limitations
periods for commencement of a proceeding for administrative and/or judicial review of the
Governmental Approvals have expired, no such proceeding having been commenced, or if
commenced, such proceeding has been finally determined and such determination is no longer
appealable to any governmental authority or court.

“Financing Commitments™ has the meaning set forth in Section 4.3.6 hereof.
“Governmental Agency(ies)” means the United States, the State of New York (the “State”),

the County, the Village or any political subdivision of any thereof, and any agency, department,
office, commission, board, coutt or instrumentality of any thereof.

“Governmental Approvals” means all discretionary land use approvals required from the
Village and or other Governmental Agencies for the demolition, renovation, construction, use and
occupancy of the Improvements: (i) zoning, land use or building code approvals (including
without limitation variances); (ii) building permits and other building-related permits such as
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temporary certificates of occupancy, certificates of occupancy, plumbing, electrical and tap-in
permits; environmental approvals, including SEQRA, site plan approval, subdivision, building
permits and confirmation of the availability of utility services including natural gas availability and
capacity, amendment of the master plans, to the extent necessary to develop the Subject Property.
“Improvements” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1 hereof.
“Manager” if any, means a person designated by PURCHASER to act on its behalf,

“Qutside Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2 hereof.

“Permitted Exceptions” means the matters so designated in Article XIV of this Agreement.

“Person” means an individual, corporation, pattnership, limited partnership, joint venture,
limited liability company, limited liability partnership, estate, trust or unincorporated association,
any Federal, State, County or municipal government or any bureau, department, or agency thereof,
any political subdivision, any fiduciary acting in such capacity on behalf of any of the foregoing,
or any other legal or business entity.

“PILOT Agreement” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.3.8.

“Project” means the demolition, restoration, renovation and/or construction of the
Improvements as described in Section 2.1 hereof.

“Public Parking” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1 hereof.

“Public Parking Funds™ has the meaning set forth in Section 3.3 hereof.
“Purchase Price” has the meaning set forth in Section 3.3 hereof.

“Requirements” means any and all laws, rules, regulations, orders, ordinances, variances,
statutes, codes, executive orders, permits, approvals (and conditions of permits and approvals) and
requirements of all Governmental Agencies applicable to the Subject Property and the Public
Parking, as applicable, including, without limitation, all applicable zoning, planning, building and
environmental laws, ordinances, rules and regulations.

“SEQRA” means the State Environmental Quality Review Act (Title 8 of the
Environmental Conservation Law of the State of New York) and the regulations issued thereunder
by the New York State Commissioner of Environmental Conservation.

“Subject_Property” means the patcel(s) of property known as 141 Prospect Avenue,
Mamaroneck, New York, owned by the SELLER and intended to be conveyed to PURCHASER
under this Agreement, comprising approximately 40,030 SF located in the Village of Mamaroneck,
designated as Section 9, Block 7, Lot 289 of the Tax Map of the Village of Mamaroneck, as more
particularly described by metes and bounds in Schedule “A” attached to this Agreement and made
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a part hereof, together with all structures and improvements located thereon and other rights and
property interests appurtenant thereto as more particularly set forth in Section 3.2 of this
Agreement.

“Title Company” has the meaning set forth in Section 14.1 hercof.

“Title Credits™ has the meaning set forth in Section 14.3 hereof.

“Title Defects” has the meaning set forth in Section 14.2 hereof.

“Title Exceptions™ has the meaning set forth in Section 14.3 hereof.

“Unavoidable Delays” means delays incurred by SELLER or PURCHASER (as the case
may be, the “Delayed Party”) due to strikes, lockouts, work stoppages, labor jurisdictional
disputes, orders by Governmental Agencies that affect the progress of any work or process
hereunder by more than 30 days, pending litigation (including, but not limited to Atticle 78
proceedings), acts of God, inability to obtain labor or materials, governmental preemptions or
restrictions, enemy action, riot or other civil commotion, fire, casualty or other causes beyond the
reasonable control of the Delayed Party, or if the Delayed Party is the PURCHASER, or an
Affiliate of PURCHASER, the breach, default or delay by SELLER in the payment or performance
of its obligations under this Agreement or any agreement referred to in this Agreement; in each
case provided the Delayed Party shall have notified the other party to this Agreement not later than
thirty (30) days after the Delayed Party knows or should have known of the occurrence of same
and if such notice is given after the expiration of such thirty (30) day period, then the period of
Unavoidable Delay shall not be deemed to have commenced until the Delayed Party shall have
notified the other party of the occurrence of same.

“Village” means the Village of Mamaroneck.

“Zoning Ordinance” means the Zoning Ordinance of the Village of Mamaroneck.

ARTICLE I
THE PROJECT
The Project shall consist of the following elements:

Section2.1  Improvements, The Improvements shall include the following
principal elements which are more particularly described in PURCHASER’S Conceptual
Development Plan (as defined in Section 5.1 hereof) and is attached hereto as Schedule B: the
construction and equipping on the Subject Property of an approximately 62 unit residential,
multifamily building consisting of long term affordable rental units and three levels of parking
with approximately 180 parking spaces, of which 55 parking spaces shall be reserved for the
building’s residents and 125 parking spaces (the “Public Parking™) shall be reserved for the (being
collectively referred to as the “Improvements™). The Improvements and shall be constructed in
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extended, modified or replaced, if the Subject Property needs environmental remediation. In the
event of such DEC application, SELLER agrees to assist in the application process.

Section 2.4  SELLER’s Title to Subject Property. If on the Closing Date, SELLER does
not have such title to the Subject Property as it has agreed to convey under Article I of this
Agreement, is unable to convey title in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, or is unable
to satisfy any conditions precedent to PURCHASER's obligations under this Agreement, this
Agreement shall be terminated and the PURCHASER shall not be obligated to purchase the
Subject Property. Upon the termination of this Agreement pursuant to this Section 2.4, SELLER's
sole obligation and PURCHASER's sole and exclusive remedy shall be a refund to PURCHASER
the Deposit paid hereunder with interest earned thereon, if any.

ARTICLE III
SALE OF SUBJECT PROPERTY

Section 3.1 Terms of Sale. SELLER agrees to sell the Subject Property to PURCHASER
and PURCHASER agrees to purchase and take the Subject Property from SELLER, on the Closing
Date (as defined in Section 4.1 below), subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and

(a) Any state of facts, including changes in street lines or grades, which an
accurate survey or personal inspection may show, which does not render the title uninsurable
unless such facts, changes in street lines or grades were caused or created by the PURCHASER in
connection with the Project which results in the Subject Property being uninsurable.

(b)  The Zoning Ordinance and ail municipal codes and regulations and
violations thereof, which do not render the title uninsurable.

(©) Rights-of-way of record, restrictive covenants of record, easements of
record, and storm, sanitary sewer, utility and water lines servicing ot affecting the Subject
Property.

(d)  No title to land lying in any street in front of or adjoining said Subject
Property is included in this sale.

Section 3.2 Subiect Property. The Subject Property shall mean and include:

(a) The Subject Property and all of the buildings, structures, foundations,
footings, fixtures and other improvements existing thereon on the date hereof.

(b) Any and all equipment, inventory, supplies, articles of personal property,
free and clear of any liens or claims whether tangible or intangible, which are attached, appurtenant
to, installed or placed in or upon or used for or adapted in any way to the Subject Property.

(c) All right, title and interest, if any, of SELLER in and to any land lying in
the bed of any highways, street, road or avenue, open or proposed, including vaults, if any, any
strips and gores in front of or adjoining the Property, and all right, title and interest of SELLER in

7




and to the award made or to be made in lieu thereof and in and to any unpaid award for damages
to the Subject Property by reason of any change of grade of any highway, street, road or avenue
adjoining the Subject Property.

(@) All right, title and interest of SELLER in and to all licenses, permits,
franchises and approvals, resolutions or consents (to the extent they may be transferred or
assigned) issued or made by any federal, state or municipal authority relating to the development,
rehabilitation or use of the Subject Property, running to or in favor of SELLER, its successors and
assigns.

Section 3.3.  Purchase Price. The purchase price (the “Purchase Price”) is FIVE
MILLION AND 00/100 DOLLARS ($5,000,000.00), payable as follows:

(a) By PURCHASER's check payable to the Village of Mamaroneck Clerk-
Treasurer, as escrow agent, (subject to collection) in the amount of FIVE THOUSAND AND
00/100 DOLLARS ($5,000.00) (the “Deposit™), delivered on the date of execution and delivery of
this Agreement. The Deposit shall be held in escrow by Escrow Agent upon the terms and
conditions set forth in Section 16.24 hereof. Any interest or other proceeds of the investment of
the Deposit shall be the property of the SELLER except as otherwise set forth herein; and

(b)  The balance of FOUR MILLION AND NINE HUNDRED AND NINETY-
FIVE THOUSAND AND 00/100 DOLLARS ($4,995,000.00), to be paid at the Closing, less the
actual costs incurred by Purchaser to cure the Title Defects or Additional Title Defects set forth in
Section 14.2 to be paid at Closing. '

©) Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, SELLER shall reinvest
FOUR MILLION, FIVE HUNDRED SIXTY-TWO THOUSAND, SEVEN HUNDRED AND
SEVENTY-FIVE 00/100 DOLLARS ($4,562,775.00) towards the construction of the Public
Parking (the “Public Parking Funds”™). The SELLER shall make available and deliver the Public
Parking Funds to the PURCHASER at Closing. At Closing, in exchange for the Public Parking
Funds, the PURCHASER shall provide the SELLER with an easement for the Public Parking for
a period of not less than ninety nine (99) years. The easement shall describe the responsibilities
and obligations of the parties as to the maintenance and operation of the Public Parking. This
Section 3.3 (c) shall survive the Closing.

Section 3.4. Acceptable Funds.  All monies payable under this Agreement,
unless otherwise specified, shall be either:

(a) Good certified check of PURCHASER, or official check of any bank,
savings bank or trust company having a banking office in the State of New York, payable to the
order of SELLER, or as SELLER may direct;

(b)  Money payable to SELLER at the Closing, other than the purchase price,
may be by check of PURCHASER up to the amount of $2,000.00; or




(c) As otherwise agreed to by SELLER or SELLER’s attorney.

Section 3.5  Closing Adjustments.

(a) The following shall be adjusted as of the Closing Date:

() real estate taxes and any other state, county or municipal charges, if
any;

(i)  any special assessments;

(i)  water, gas, electric and sewer charges, it being agreed that
PURCHASER shall obtain prior to Closing final readings of all
metered accounts,

(b)  If the Closing shall occur before a new tax rate is fixed, the apportionment
of taxes shall be upon the basis of the old tax rate for the preceding period applied to the latest
assessed valuation. Any errors or omissions in computing apportionments at Closing shall be
corrected. This provision shall survive the Closing for a period of six months.

Section 3.6  Closing Costs. All real property transfer taxes payable by reason
of the conveyance of title as provided for in this Agreement and any costs related to the recordation
of the Deed shall be paid by SELLER. PURCHASER shall pay the costs of any title insurance or
surveys obtained by PURCHASER. All other closing costs not specifically allocated by this
Agreement shall be allocated in accordance with local custom in Westchester County, as
determined by the Title Company.

Section 3.7  Credits, Payments from Purchase Price. SELLER shall adjust
the amount of any unpaid taxes, assessments, water charges and sewer charges, together with any
interest and penalties thereon on the Subject Property and incurred prior to 11:59 p.m. on the day
prior to the Closing Date. If there is anything else affecting the sale, which SELLER is obligated
to pay and discharge at Closing, SELLER may use any portion of the purchase price to discharge
it. Upon request, made within a reasonable time before the Closing, the PURCHASER agrees to
provide separate certified checks up to a maximum of six (6) as requested to assist in clearing up
any such matters,

ARTICLE 1V
CLOSING; CONDITIONS OF CLOSING
Section4.1  Time and Place of Closing. The Closing shall take place at the
offices of the , or at the offices of PURCHASER’s mortgage

Jender or of said lender's attorneys in the State of New York, at 10:00 A.M., on a date determined
in accordance with Section 4.2 below,




Section4.2  Date of Closing. Unless otherwise extended by SELLER under
Section 14.2 hereof, the Closing shall occur on the first business day after the later of the following:
(i) the expiration of one hundred eighty (180) calendar days from receipt of the last of the Final
Governmental Approvals required for the Project or (ii) the expiration of sixty (60) calendar days
from issuance of a building permit from the Building Department for the construction of the
Improvements; and, provided that Purchaser has complied with all of its obligations under Section
13.1 hereof, such date being herein referred to as the “Closing Date”; provided that such date shall
be no later than (the “Outside Date”).

Section 4.3. Conditions of PURCHASER’s Obligation to Close. The obligation of
the PURCHASER to close hereunder is expressly conditioned upon the fulfillment by and as of
the Closing Date of each of the conditions listed below, provided, however, that PURCHASER at
its election, evidenced by notice delivered to SELLER prior to or at the Closing, may waive any
or all of the following conditions: ’

43.1 All representations, warranties, acknowledgments and covenants
made by SELLER in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all material respects at the date of
Closing.

4.3.2 No laws, statutes, ordinances, governmental orders, regulations, rules
ot requirements shall have been enacted, adopted, issued or otherwise promulgated, and/or shall
be in force, that would prevent or materially interfere with the rehabilitation, conversion or use of
the Subject Property in accordance with this Agreement or the Governmental Approvals; and of
which impediment PURCHASER has informed SELLER with reasonable promptness.

4.3.3 SELLER shall own good, marketable title to the Subject Property, and
shall be able to convey good and marketable title to the Subject Property to PURCHASER pursuant
to this Agreement, subject only to the Permitted Exceptions.

434 During the term of this Agreement, PURCHASER and its
authorized representatives shall have the right and privilege to enter upon the Subject Property, for
the purpose of gathering such information and conducting such customary environmental and
engineering studies or other tests and reviews as PURCHASER may reasonably deem appropriate
and necessary (including, but not limited to, performing engineering and Phase I and Phase Il
environmental studies) and such other matters as PURCHASER shall deem reasonably necessary
or appropriate to determine, in PURCHASERs sole, but reasonable discretion, that the Subject
Property can be feasibly developed as contemplated herein. All such inspections, studies, tests and
reviews shall be at PURCHASER's sole expense.

43.5 PURCHASER shall have obtained all necessary Governmental
Approvals needed to complete the Improvements and to operate the completed Project on the
Subject Property as contemplated by this Agreement. SELLER agrees to use best efforts to assist
PURCHASER in obtaining the Governmental Approvals.
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43.6 PURCHASER shall have obtained financing and investor equity
commitments, including a tax credit allocation, federal, state, and local funding commitments,
including but not limited to the County New Homes Land Acquisition funding to pay the Purchase
Price, which are sufficient in the reasonable judgment of PURCHASER to acquire the Subject
Property and construct the Improvements as contemplated herein (collectively, the “Financing
Commitments™).

4.3.7 The Zoning Ordinance shall not have been amended in a way that
negatively impacts the Project.

4.3.8 PURCHASER shall have obtained a payment in lieu of taxes
agreement (“PILOT Agreement™) from each affected tax jurisdiction that is substantially similar
to the real property tax benefits provided to similar developers of affordable housing in the County
of Westchester and that is acceptable to PURCHASER in ifs sole discretion.

43.9 At Closing, the SELLER shall have made available the Public
Parking Funds.

If at any time during the term of this Agreement, PURCHASER determines in its
sole discretion, that any of the Conditions to Close cannot be feasibly satistied, PURCHASER
shall promptly notify SELLER in which event this Agreement shall be null and void and the
Deposit shall be promptly refunded to PURCHASER and neither party shall have any further rights
or obligations under this Agreement, except for those that expressly survive termination.

Section 4.4  Conditions of SELLER's Obligation to Close. The obligation of
SELLER to close hereunder is expressly conditioned upon the fulfillment by and as of the Closing
Date of each of the conditions listed below, provided, however, that SELLER at its election,
evidenced by notice delivered to PURCHASER prior to or at the Closing, may waive any or all of
the following conditions:

44.1 All representations, warranties, acknowledgments and covenants
made by PURCHASER in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all material respects at the
date of Closing.

442 No laws, statutes, ordinances, governmental orders, regulations,
rules or requirements shall have been enacted, adopted, issued or otherwise promulgated, and/or
shall be in force, that would prevent or materially interfere with the rehabilitation, conversion or
use of the Subject Property in accordance with this Agreement and the Conceptual Development
Plan, as same may be modified or amended during the Governmental Approvals process in
accordance with this Agreement, and of which impediment SELLER has informed PURCHASER
with reasonable promptness.

Section4.5  Closing Transactions. The following transactions and deliveries
shall occur at the Closing:
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4.5.1. SELLER shall deliver:

(a) A statutory form of bargain and sale deed (the “Deed”), with covenant
apainst grantor’s acts in statutory form, signed and acknowledged by SELLER in proper form for
recording so as to convey the title required by this Agreement. The Deed shall be delivered to the
Title Company at the Closing for recordation.

(b) A TP-584 form pertaining to the transfer of the Subject Property, signed by
SELLER. ‘

(c) Such customary affidavits pertaining to title as the PURCHASER’s or its
lender’s title insurer may reasonably require.

(d) Certified resolution(s) of SELLER authorizing the conveyance of the
Subject Property to the PURCHASER.

(e) Any and all documents, registrations, keys, originals of expired leases or
occupancy agreements with current tax bills, etc., used in or applicable to the operation and
maintenance of the Subject Property, as is.

(H) A resolution of the Seller’s Board of Trustees authorizing the PILOT
Agreement.
(g)  The Public Parking Funds.

4,52 At the Closing PURCHASER shall:

(a) Deliver to SELLER good certified or official bank checks in the amount of
FOUR MILLION AND NINE HUNDRED AND NINETY-FIVE THOUSAND AND 00/100
DOLLARS ($4,995,000.00) as payment of the portion of the Purchase Price payable at the
Closing, as adjusted for the Public Parking Funds, Title Credits, apportionments and credits as
herein provided.

(b) Cause the Deed to be recorded, duly complete all required real property
transfer tax returns and cause all such returns and checks in payment of such taxes, if any, to be
delivered to the appropriate officers promptly after the Closing.

(c) Deliver an easement to Seller for the Public Parking.

ARTICLE V

PLANS

Section 5.1 PURCHASER’S Proposal. PURCHASER’s proposed plans for the
Improvements are attached hereto as Schedule B and have been initialed by the Manager and set
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forth the PURCHASER architect’s renderings and PURCHASER’s description of the program of
Improvements to be developed (“Conceptual Development Plan”).

Section 5.2  This Article V shall survive the Closing.
ARTICLE VI
INTENTIONALLY OMITTED.
ARTICLE VII
ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS BETWEEN THE PARTIES

Section 7.1  Governmental Approvals.

7.1.1 PURCHASER is responsible for obtaining all Governmental
Approvals. As soon as practicable after the date hereof, PURCHASER shall apply for, and shall
pursue with due diligence, all Governmental Approvals.

7.1.2 SELLER agrees to use best efforts to assist PURCHASER in obtaining the
Governmental Approvals.

7.1.3 The cost of obtaining the Governmental Approvals shall be paid by
PURCHASER.

7.1.4 Provided that SELLER shall have acted in good faith in the consideration
of the applications for Governmental Approvals and used best efforts {o assist PURCHASER in
obtaining the Governmental Approvals, SELLER shall have the option to terminate this
Agreement in the event that the PURCHASER shall fail to obtain the Governmental Approvals
required to construct the Improvements on or before [ _, 201 Upon such
termination by SELLER, PURCHASER shall receive a refund of so much of the Deposit as shall
not have become non-refundable pursuant to Section 16.24(b) below, in which event neither party
shall thereafter have any further rights against, or obligations or liabilities to, the other by reason
of this Agreement.

Section 7.2  Utility Lines. The parties agree that the utility lines serving the
Improvements will be installed underground.

ARTICLE VHI

INTENTIONALLY OMITTED

ARTICLE IX

PROHIBITIONS AGAINST ASSIGNMENT AND TRANSFER
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PURCHASER is a party, specifically including any covenants of any bonds, notes, or other forms
of indebtedness of PURCHASER outstanding on the date hereof, and () this Agreement
constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of PURCHASER enforceable against
PURCHASER in accordance with the terms thereof except as enforceability may be limited by
applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratoriums or similar laws affecting the
enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and by legal and equitable limitations on the
enforceability of specific remedies.

Section 11.2 Representations of SELLER. In order to induce PURCHASER to
enter into this Agreement, SELLER hereby represents and warrants, with full knowledge that
PURCHASER shall rely on such representations and warranties, that (a) SELLER has full power
and authority to consummate the (ransactions contemplated hereby; (b) this Agreement has been
duly authorized by all necessary action on the part of SELLER, and has been duly executed and
delivered by SELLER; neither the execution and deliver thereof, nor compliance with the terms
and provisions thereof (1) requires the approval and consent of any Governmental Agency or any
other entity or person, except such as have been duly obtained or such as are Governmental
Approvals to be obtained; (2) contravenes any existing law, judgment, governmental rule,
regulation or order applicable to or binding on SELLER (except, and to the extent, that any of the
same are to be modified through Governmental Approvals as contemplated herein), or (3)
contravenes or results in any breach of or, except as contemplated by this Agreement, results in
the creation of any lien or encumbrance upon any property of SELLER under any indenture,
mortgage, deed of trust, bank loan or credit agreement, applicable ordinances, resolutions or, on
the date of this Agreement, any other Agreement or instrument to which SELLER is a party,
specifically including any covenants of any bonds, notes or other forms of indebtedness of
SELLER outstanding on the date hereof, (c) this Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and binding
obligation of SELLER, enforceable against SELLER in accordance with the terms thereof; (d)
SELLER has received no notice of and has no knowledge of any actual or proposed taking in
condemnation of all or any part of the Subject Property, or dedication of same to any public or
quasi-public use; and () there are no current leases affecting the Subject Property, and Seller has
no actual knowledge of any rights of possession which would survive the Closing hereunder.
SELLER covenants that all of the representations set forth in this Agreement will be true and
correct at the time of Closing.

Section 11.3 No Other Representations. Each of the parties to this Agreement
acknowledges to the other that, except as otherwise specifically provided herein, (a) no
representations, statement or watranties, express o1 implied, have been made by, or on behalf of,
any such party with respect to such party or with respect to the Subject Property, or with respect
to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and (b} it has not relied on such
representations, statements or warranties.

Section 11.4  Subject Property “As Is”. PURCHASER has inspected the Subject
Property, or caused an inspection theteof to be made on PURCHASER's behalf. PURCHASER is
thoroughly acquainted with the condition of the Subject Property and the improvements located
therein, if any, including, but not limited to soil, drainage, and the sub-surface conditions beneath
the Subject Property, PURCHASER acknowledges that neither SELLER nor any person acting
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or purporting to act for SELLER has made or now makes any representations or warranties, and
that SELLER is unwilling to make any representations and has held out no inducements to
PURCHASER other than those expressed herein. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing,
PURCHASER has not relied on any representations or warranties, and SELLER has not made any
representations or warranties in either case express or implied, as to (i) the current or future real
estate tax liability, assessment or valuation of the Subject Property, (ii) the potential qualification
of the Subject Property for any and all benefits conferred by federal, state or municipal laws,
whether for subsidies, special real estate tax treatment, insurance, mortgages, or any other benefits,
whether similar or dissimilar to those enumerated; (iii) the compliance of the Subject Property in
its current or any future state with applicable zoning ordinances and the ability to obtain a variance
in respect to the Subject Property's non-compliance, if any, with said zoning ordinances; (iv) the
availability of any financing for the purchase, alteration, rehabilitation or operation of the Subject
Property from any source, including but not limited to State, local or Federal government or any
institutional lender; (v) the cutrent or future use of the Subject Property; (vi) the present and future
condition and operating state of any and all machinery or equipment on the Subject Property and.
the present or future structural and physical condition of the Subject Property or its suitability for
rehabilitation or renovation; (vii) the ownership or state of title of any personal property on the
Subject Property; (viii) the presence or absence of any rules or notices of violations of law issued
by any Governmental Agency; (ix) the layout, leases, rents, income, expenses or operation of the
Subject Property; (x) financial statements; or (xi) any other matter or thing affecting or relating to
the Subject Property. SELLER is not liable or bound in any manner by any verbal, or written
statements, representations, real estate brokers' “set-ups” or information pertaining to the Subject
Property or the operation, layout, expenses, condition, income, leases or rents furnished by any
real estate broker, salesman, agent, employee, or other person, unless the same are specifically set
forth herein. PURCHASER agrees to take the Subject Property “as is”, and in its present condition,
subject to any deterioration of any kind, nature or extent, between the date hereof and the Closing
Date. SELLER shall have no obligation to make any repairs to the Subject Property of any nature
or description between the date hereof and the Closing Date.

ARTICLE XII

DEFAULT AND REMEDIES; TERMINATION

Section 12.1 Events of Default by PURCHASER. The occurrence of any of the
following at or prior to Closing shall be an “Event of Default” by PURCHASER under this
Agrecment:

12.1.1 Failure of the PURCHASER 1o proceed to Closing when and in the
manner required to do so under the terms and conditions of this Agreement and/or to pay the
Purchase Price in the amounts and at the times herein set forth;

12.1.2 The failure of PURCHASER to pay any sum to SELLER required
to be paid by PURCHASER under this Agreement (other than the Purchase Price) when the same

shall become due and payable and such failure shall continue for thirty (30) days after notice from
SELLER to PURCHARSER;
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12.1.3 If PURCHASER shall admit, in writing, that it is unable to pay its
debts as they become due;

12.1.4 If PURCHASER shall make an assignment for the benefit of
creditors;

12.1.5 IfPURCHASER shall file a voluntary petition under the Bankruptcy
Code of the United States, or if such petition shall be filed against PURCHASER and an order for
relief shall be entered, or if PURCHASER shall file a petition or an answer seeking, consenting to
or acquiescing in, any reorganization, arrangement, composition, readjustment, liquidation,
dissolution or similar relief under the present or any future Federal bankruptcy code, or any other
present or future applicable Federal, State or other bankruptcy or insolvency statute or law, or shall
seek, or consent to, or acquiesce in the appointment of, any trustee, receiver, custodian, assignee,
sequestrator, liquidator or other similar official of PURCHASER, or of all or any substantial part
of its properties;

12.1.6 If within ninety (90) days after the commencement of a proceeding
against PURCHASER seeking any reorganization, arrangement, composition, readjustment,
liquidation, dissolution or similar relief under the present or any future Federal bankruptcy code
or any other present or future applicable Federal, State or other bankruptcy or insolvency statute
ot law, such proceeding shall not be dismissed, or if, within ninety (90) days after the appointment,
without the consent or acquiescence of PURCHASER, of any trustee, receiver, custodian,
assignee, sequestrator, liquidator or other similar official of PURCHASER, or of all or any
substantial part of its properties, such appointment shall not be vacated or stayed on appeal or
otherwise, or if, within ninety (90) days after the expiration of any such stay, such appointment
shall not be vacated;

12.1.7 Ifany of the representations made by PURCHASER in Section 11.1
of this Agreement shall be false or incorrect, in any material respect, and PURCHASER shall fail
to cause, within thirty (30) days following notice of such misrepresentation to PURCHASER by
SELLER, such misrepresentation to become true and correct as of a date within such thirty (30)
day period;

12.1.8 Intentionally omitted; or

12.1.9 If PURCHASER shall fail to observe or perform one or more of the
other terms, conditions, covenants or agreements contained in this Agreement and such failure
shall continue for a period of thirty (30) days after written notice thereof by SELLER to
PURCHASER specifying such failure, unless and to the extent that such failure requires work to
be performed, acts to be done, or conditions to be removed which cannot by their nature or because
of Unavoidable Delays reasonably be performed, done or removed, as the case may be, within
such thirty (30) day period, in which case no Event of Default shall be deemed to exist as long as
PURCHASER shall have commenced curing the same within such thirty (30) day period and shall,
subject to Unavoidable Delays, diligently and continuously prosecute the same to completion.
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Section 12.2 Remedies of SELLER

12.2.1 If an Event of Default by PURCHASER shall have occurred and
shall not have been remedied within any applicable grace period provided in Section 12.1 hereof,
SELLER shall have the right, at its option, and in addition to all other rights and remedies available
to SELLER at law or in equity, to terminate this Agreement by giving thirty (30) days’ written
notice thereof to PURCHASER, and upon the expiration of such notice period this Agreement
shall be deemed terminated.

12.2.2 In the event this Agreement shall be terminated by SELLER in
connection with an Event of Default hereunder, then (a) SELLER shall be entitled to retain the
Deposit, as liquidated damages for PURCHASER’s default; and, in addition thereto, (b)
PURCHASER shall pay to SELLER the reasonable costs and expenses, including, without
limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees and disbursements, incurred by SELLER in terminating this
Agreement, and upon the occurrence of the payments required under clauses (a) and (b) above,
neither party shall have any further obligation under this Agreement.

Section 12.4 Events of Default by SELLER. The occutrence of any of the
following shall be an “Event of Defauit” by SELLER under this Agreement:

12.4.1 The failure of SELLER to pay any sum to PURCHASER required
to be paid by SELLER hereunder when the same shall became due and payable and such failure
shall continue for thirty (30) days after written notice from PURCHASER to SELLER, including,
but not limited to the Public Parking Funds;

12.4.2 Failure to proceed to Closing when and in the manner required to do
so under the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

12.4.3 If any of the representations made by SELLER in Section 11.2 of
this Agreement shall be false or incorrect in any material respect, and SELLER shall fail fo cause,
within thirty (30) days following notice of such misrepresentation to SELLER by PURCHASER,
such representation to become true and correct as of a date within such thirty (30) day period; or

12.4.4 1f SELLER shall fail to observe or perform one or more of the other
terms, conditions, covenants or agreements contained in this Agreement, including without
limitation, resolving Title Defects and Additional Title Defects in the time periods set forth herein,
and such failure shall continue for a period of thirty (30) days after notice thereof by PURCHASER
to SELLER specifying such failure, unless such failure requires work to be performed, acts to be
done, or conditions to be removed which cannot by their nature or because of Unavoidable Delays
reasonably be performed, done or removed, as the case may be, within such thirty (30) day period,
in which case no Event of Default shall be deemed to exist as long as SELLER shall have
commenced curing the same within such thirty (30) day period, and shall, subject to Unavoidable
Delays, diligently and continuously prosecute the same to completion; or
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12.4.5 Failure to commit the Public Parking Funds towards the
construction of Public Parking.

Section 12.5 Remedies of PURCHASER. If an Event of Default by SELLER,
shall have occurred and shall not have been remedied within any applicable grace period as
provided in Section 12.4.4, PURCHASER may, at its option, (a) terminate this Agreement by
giving thirty (30) days’ notice thereof to SELLER, and upon the expiration of such notice period
and SELLER’s failure to cure such Event of Default, this Agreement shall be deemed terminated,
the Deposit refunded to PURCHASER, and SELLER shall reimburse PURCHASER for
reasonable out of pocket expenses related to the Subject Property and its performance under this
Agreement, including, but not limited to, pursuing the Governmental Approvals, and pay to
PURCHASER the reasonable costs and expenses, including, without lmitation, reasonable
attorneys’ fees and disbursement, incurred by PURCHASER, including in-house counsel, in
terminating this Agreement and neither party shall have any further obligations hereunder (except
such obligations which survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement as expressly
provided hereunder) or (b) enforce the obligations of SELLER hereunder by legal or equitable
action, including by action for specific performance, and, SELLER shall reimburse PURCHASER
for reasonable out of pocket expenses, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees
and disbursements, incurred by PURCHASER, including in-house counsel, related to enforcing
the obligations of SELLER hereunder by legal or equitable action, including by action for specific
performance.

Section 12.6  Strict Performance. No failure by SELLER or PURCHASER to
insist upon the other party's strict performance of any covenant, agreement, term or condition of
this Agreement, or to exercise any right or remedy available to such party, and no payment or
acceptance of full or partial performance during the continuance of any Event of Default, shali
constitute a waiver of any such Event of Default. No covenant, agreement, term or condition of
this Agreement to be performed or complied with by either party, and no defauit by either party,
shall be waived, altered or modified, except by a written instrument executed by the other party.
No waiver of any default shall affect or alter this Agreement, but each and every covenant,
agreement, term and condition of this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect with respect
to any other then existing or subsequent default.

+

ARTICLE XIII

INTENTIONALLY OMITTED
ARTICLE XIV

PERMITTED EXCEPTIONS, OBJECTIONS TO TITLE

Section 14.1 Permitted Exceptions. Except as provided herein below, the Subject
Property shall be free and clear of all liens and encumbrances and insurable by a national title
company of PURCHASER’s choosing (the “Title Company”) subject at the time of the Closing
only to the matters (the “Permitted Exceptions™) set forth below:
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(a) The provisions of the Zoning Ordinance and any and all other applicable
provisions of municipal ordinances, regulations and public laws.

(b) Licenses and easements for public utilities and the rights of any utility company
to maintain and operate lines, conduits, cables and distribution boxes in, upon or over the Subject

Property.
(c) State of facts set forth in survey attached hereto and made a part hereof.

Section 14.2  Survey. Prior to Closing, PURCHASER shall deliver to SELLER a mete
and bounds survey of the Subject Property (the “Survey”). At Closing, such Survey shall be
certified to SELLER, PURCHASER, the Title Company and any others as required by
PURCHASER'S lender. The parties acknowledge that PURCHASER has delivered to SELLER
title commitments from the Title Company requiring that SELLER act to clear title to the Subject
Property (the “Title Defects”). SELLER agrees that, at its cost, it shall resolve the Title Defects
within 3 months of the Effective Date with the effect that SELLER can deliver title to the Subject
Property as described in Section 14.1. PURCHASER agrees to cooperate with SELLER, at no cost
to PURCHASER, on the resolution of the Title Defects, which may include obtaining title
insurance from a different title insurance company, as long as such company is nationally
recognized and is acceptable to PURCHASER’S investors and mortgage lenders.

Section 14.3 Title Report. PURCHASER shall promptly order (i) a search of title to the
Subject Property and (ii) the Survey. Such Survey shall be certified to SELLER, PURCHASER,
PURCHASER?s title insurance company and any others as required by PURCHASER's lender.
Prompily upon the receipt of such title report and Survey, PURCHASER shall deliver a copy to
SELLER. SELLER shall have the right to cure or remedy any exception or objection to title subject
to which PURCHASER is not tequired to take title hereunder (“Title Exceptions”), and, for such
purpose, shall be entitled to reasonable adjournments of closing of title from time to time, not to
exceed, in the aggregate, sixty (60) days. However, and notwithstanding any provision to the
contrary, in the event PURCHASER agrees to waive, cure or remedy a Title Exception,
PURCHASER shall receive a TEN THOUSAND U.S. DOLLARS ($10,000.00) credit for cach
Title Exception it waives, cures, or remedies (“Title Credits”). SELLER shall not be obligated to
clear any such Title Exceptions or to incur expenditures for such purpose; but PURCHARSER may
elect to close subject to such Title Exceptions and accept the Title Credits. In the event that any
update of such title report or of the Survey is received with respect to the Subject Property
indicating any title exceptions impacting the Subject Property, other than the Permitted Title
Exceptions (“Additional Title Defects”), PURCHASER agrees that within five (5) business days
after it receives such updated title report or updated survey, it will provide a copy or copies thereof
to SELLER. SELLER shall have five (5) business days to determine whether it wishes to attempt
to remove such Additional Title Defects. If SELLER is unable or unwilling to cure or attempt to
cure any such matters, SELLER shall give notice to PURCHASER within such five (5) business
day period, but if no such notice is given, SELLER shall be deemed to be unwilling to cure any
such Additional Title Defects. If SELLER does not agree to attempt to cure the Additional Title
Defects within such five (5) business day period, or if SELLER fails to timely cure the Title
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Defects within the reasonable adjournment period, not to exceed sixty (60) days in the aggregate,
PURCHASER may (i) cure the Title Defects and the Additional Title Defects and apply its actual
cost in doing so or the value of the Title Credits, whichever is greater, against the Purchase Price
at Closing or (ii) cancel this Agreement and pursue the remedies set forth in Section 12.5 of this
Agreement.

Section 14.4 Possession. The Subject Property shall be delivered by SELLER to
PURCHASER at Closing free and clear of all leases, licenses, liens, tenancies, and occupants and
all utility services have been shut off and disconnected.

ARTICLE XV

ACCESS TO SUBJECT PROPERTY

Section 15.1 Right of Entry. SELLER hereby grants PURCHASER, its Affiliates,
contractors, subcontractors, architects, agents and prospective mortgagees, the right to enter the
Subject Property together with workers and materials at any time prior to the Closing Date for the
following purposes, and with prior written notice to SELLER:

(a) To make physical inspections of the Subject Property, including
subsurface tests, soil test borings, water survey, topographical surveys, sewage disposal survey
and draining determination.

(b) To make any and all inspections, tests, probes, surveys and appraisals.

(¢) To conduct and to carry out any and all engineering studies and
operations that are necessary to carry out the intent of this Agreement.

Section 15.2 Indemnification. PURCHASER shall indemnify, defend and save
SELLER, and each of their officers, elected officials, appointed officials, directors, employees,
agents and representatives (the “Indemnitecs”), harmless from any and all loss, costs, damages,
expenses and attorneys' fees resulting from personal injury, property damage or loss of value of
the Subject Property which Indemnitees may suffer or incur as a result of any entry or activities of
PURCHASER, its Affiliates, employees, contractors, subcontractors, architects, agents, invitees
and prospective mortgages pursuant to Section 15.1 of this Agreement, except PURCHASER shall
not be liable for such indemnification for the negligent acts or omissions attributed to Indemnitees.
The Deposit made hereunder shall stand as security for PURCHASER’s obligations under this
Section 15.2. The indemnification provided under this Sectuib 15,2 shall survive for six months
following: (i) Closing or (ii) the termination of this Agreement. '

Section 15.3 Insurance. Prior to any such entry upon the Subject Property,
PURCHASER shall furnish to SELLER duplicate original policies of workmen's compensation
insurance covering all persons to be employed in connection therewith, including those to be
employed by all contractors and subcontractors, and of comprehensive public liability insurance
(including property damage coverage) in which SELLER shall be named as an additional insured,
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which policies shall be issued by companies, and shall be in form and amounts, as are reasonably
satisfactory to SELLER,

ARTICLE XVI
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 16.1 Discharge of Liens.

16.1.1 Prior to the Closing, and subject to the provisions of the last
sentence of Section 16.1.2, neither PURCHASER nor SELLER shall create or permit to be created
or allow to continue any lien, encumbrance or charge upon the Subject Property or any patt thereof,
nor suffer any other matter or thing whereby the estate, right and interest of PURCHASER or
SELLER, as the case may be, in the Subject Property or any part thereof might be impaired.

16.1.2 Prior to the Closing, if any lien at any time shall be filed in violation
of the obligation of PURCHASER or SELLER, as the case may be, pursuant to Paragraph 16.1.1
hereof, then within ninety (90) days after notice of the filing thereof, such party shall cause the
same to be discharged of record by payment, deposit, bond, order of a court of competent
jurisdiction or otherwise. If such party shall fail to cause such lien to be discharged of record
within the period aforesaid, and if such lien shall continue for an additional thirty (30) days after
notice by PURCHASER or SELLER, as the case may be, to the party so failing, then, in addition
to any other right or remedy, the party giving such notice may but shall not be obligated to,
discharge the same either by paying the amount claimed to be due or by procuring the discharge
of such lien by deposit or by bonding proceedings, and in any such event, PURCHASER or
SELLER, as the case may be, shall be entitled, if such party so elects, to compel the prosecution
of an action for the foreclosure of such lien by the lienor and to pay the amount of judgment in
favor of the lienor with interest, cost and allowances. Any amount so paid by PURCHASER or
SELLER, as the case may be, including all reasonable costs and expenses incurred by it in
connection therewith, including reasonable attorneys' fees, together with interest thereon at the
maximum legal rate permitted by State law, from the respective dates of the making of such
payment or incurring of such costs and expenses, shall be paid within ten (10) days after demand
by the party which was responsible for causing the lien to be discharged but failed to do so.
Notwithstanding the provisions of this Paragraph 16.1.2, neither PURCHASER nor SELLER shall
be required to discharge any such lien if it is in good faith contesting the same and has furnished a
cash deposit or a surety bond or other security reasonably satisfactory to the other in an amount
sufficient to pay such lien with interest and penalties.

Section 16.2 Conflict of Interest. No officer, director, member, official or
employee of SELLER shall bave any personal interest, direct or indirect, in this Agreement, nor
shall any such member, official, or employee participate in any decision relating to this Agreement
which affects his personal interests or the interests of any corporation, partnership or other entity
in which he is, directly or indirectly, interested.

Section 16.3  Exclusivity and Right of First Refusal. In the event this
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Agreement is terminated because the Village fails to provide Governmental Approvals or
SELLER fails to approve and deliver a PILOT Agreement or otherwise due to the default of
SELLER, and, within seven (7) years of such termination, the SELLER intends to approve the
development of any portion of the Subject Property as housing, PURCHASER shall be given a
right of first refusal to develop the Subject Property under the same terms and conditions then
offered by the SELLER to redevelop the Subject Property. This Section 16.3 shall survive the
termination or expiration of this Agreement.

Section 16.4 Intentionally omitted.

Section 165 Consents and Governmental Approvals.  All consents and
approvals, which may be given under this Agreement, shall, as a condition of their effectiveness,
be in writing. The granting of any consent or approval by a party to perform any act requiring
consent or approval under the terms of this Agreement or the failure on the part of a party to object
to any such action taken without the required consent or approval shall not be deemed a waiver by
the party whose consent was required of its right to require such consent or approval for any further
similar act,

Section 16.6 SELLER's Project Representative. SELLER hereby appoints the
and his or her designee as its project representative for this Agreement and
for the Project who will be responsible for coordinating the SELLER's activities hereunder with
PURCHASER and Governmental Agencies. SELLER will notify PURCHASER prior to
appointing any substitute representative.

Section 16.7 Intentionally omitted.

Section 16.8 No Broker. PURCHASER and SELLER each represent and warrant
that no broker to whom a commission, fee or other compensation is payable is or has been involved
in or brought about the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Each of said parties shall
indemnify and hold the others harmless from any and all claims, obligations, liabilities, costs or
expense (including reasonable attorneys' fees) incurred as a result of any claim for brokerage
commissions, fees or other compensation by any person or entity which alleges having acted or
dealt with the indemnifying party in connection with the Project or the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement. The parties' obligations under this Section shall survive the Closing and any
termination of this Agreement.

Section 16.9 Recording. Except as provided below, no party shall cause this
Agreement or a memorandum hereof to be recorded without the prior written consent of the other.

Section 16.10 Relationship of Parties. This Agreement is not be construed to
create a partnership or joint venture between the parties hereto.

Section 16.11  All Notices, Communications, Etc. in Writing, Whenever it is
provided herein that notice, demand, request, consent, approval or other communication (a
“notice”) shall or may be given to, or served upon, any of the parties by any other(s), or whenever
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any of the parties desires to give or serve upon the other(s) any notice, each such notice shall be in
writing and shall be effective for any purpose only if given or served by personal delivery, with
acknowledgment of receipt or by certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested,
addressed as follows:

Ifto SELLER:

If to PURCHASER:

Washingtonville Housing Alliance, Inc.
- 136 Library Lane

Mamaroneck, New York 10543

With copies to;

Westhab, Inc.

8 Bashford Street

Yonkers, New York 10701
Attention; President and CEO

And

Westhab, Inc.

8 Bashford Street

Yonkers, New York 10701
Attention: General Counsel

If to Escrow Agent:

Section 16.12. Intentionally omitted.

Section 16.13 Negotiated Document. The parties acknowledge that the provisions and
language of this Agreement have been negotiated, and agree that no provision of this Agreement
shall be construed against any party by reason of such party having drafted such provision of this
Agreement,

Section 16.14 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State of New York.

Section 16.15 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of
counterparts, each of which shall be an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and
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the same instrument, and any of the parties or signatories hereto may execute this Agreement by
signing any such counterpart. This Agreement may be signed in any manner that clearly evidences
the parties’ intent to be bound, including via faxed, imaged, .PDF, electronic or digital signatures.

Section 16.16 Captions. The captions of this Agreement arc for the purpose of
convenience of reference only, and in no way define, limit or describe the scope or intent of this
Agreement or in any way affect this Agreement.

Section 16,17 Gender, Etc. As used in this Agreement, the masculine shall include the
feminine and neuter, the singular shall include the plural, and the plural shall include the singular
as the context may require.

Section 16.18 No Third Party Beneficiaries. Except as may be expressly provided to the
contrary in this Agreement, nothing contained in this Agreement shall or shall not be construed to
confer upon any person other than the parties hereto, any rights, remedies, privileges, benefits or
causes of action fo any extent whatsoever.

_ Section 16.19 Successors and Assigns. (a) The agreements, terms, covenants and
conditions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the SELLER and
PURCHASER and, except as otherwise provided herein, their respective successors and permitted
assigns.

(b) Wherever in this Agreement it is stated that a section, term or provision of this
Agreement shall survive termination of this Agreement, survival shall apply to the parties hereto
and each of their respective successors and assigns.

Section 16.20 Further Assurances. Each party hereto shall do all acts and things and
make, execute and deliver such written instruments as shall from time to time be reasonably
required to carry out the terms and provisions of this Agreement.

Section 1621 No Amendment. Neither this Agreement nor any provisions hereof may
be changed, modified, amended, supplemented, altered, waived, discharged or terminated orally,
but only by an instrument in writing signed by the party against who enforcement of the change,
modification, amendment, supplement, alteration, waiver, discharge or termination is sought, and,
if required by any mortgage document, the applicable lender has consented thereto.

Section 16.22 Separability. Unenforceability for any reason of any provision of this
Agreement shall not limit or impair the operation or validity of any other provision of this
Agreement and if any term or provision of this Agreement or the application thereof to any person
or circumstance shall for any reason and to any extent be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder
of this Agreement, or the application of such term or provision to persons or circumstances to
which it is valid or enforceable, shall not be limited, impaired or otherwise affected thereby, and
each term and provision of this Agreement shall be valid and enforced to the extent permitted by
law.
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Section 16.23 Risk of Loss. The provisions of Section 5-1311 of the General Obligations
Law shall apply to the sale and purchase provided for in this Agreement. For the purpose of
interpreting said Section 5-1311, neither a closing of the sale of the Subject Property in escrow,
nor a license agreement for PURCHASER to perform work shall be deemed to constitute “legal
title or possession of the Subject Property”, it being agreed that until the fee title has been
transferred to PURCHASER the provisions of Section 5-1311(a) (1) and (2) shall apply.

Section 16.24 Deposit in Escrow: Release. The Deposit made hereunder shall be held in
escrow for the account of the SELLER by the Village of Mamaroneck Clerk-Treasurer (“Escrow
Agent™), on the following terms and conditions:

(a) The Deposit shall be held in an interest bearing special bank or money
market fund account or invested in United States treasury securities. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, Escrow Agent shall not be liable to either party for any failure to obtain interest on the
escrowed funds. Except in connection with an action, which may be commenced, as provided in
subparagraph (d) no charges shall be imposed by the Escrow Agent.

()  The Deposit shall be applied to the payment of the Purchase Price at
Closing, and shall be refunded to PURCHASER prior to Closing only in the event that SELLER
is unable to Close under the terms of this Agreement due to the fault of SELLER and
PURCHASER is not in default hereunder.

() Upon Closing, the remainder of the Deposit and any interest earned thereon
shall be paid to SELLER, principal only to be credited to the payment of the Purchase Price due
hereunder.

(d)  In the event of termination or cancellation of this Agreement in accordance
with its terms, and written confirmation executed by SELLER of such termination or cancellation,
the Deposit and any interest earned thereon shall be immediately paid to PURCHASER, unless
such termination is as a result of PURCHASER's default.

(e) In the event of termination or cancellation of this Agreement for any reason
herein not provided, then the Deposit and any interest earned thereon shall be paid only in the
manner provided in a written instruction to the Escrow Agent, executed by both SELLER and
PURCHASER. In the event of a dispute with respect to the Deposit held in escrow or in the
absence of such joint written instruction to the Escrow Agent, then the Escrow Agent shall deposit
the Deposit with a court of competent jurisdiction in an appropriate interpleader action naming
both SELLER and PURCHASER.

43) Upon the payment of the Deposit or any portion thereof pursuant to any
provision hereof, the Escrow Agent shall be fully discharged and released from any and all further
liability or obligation with respect to such portion of the Deposit.

(g) SELLER and PURCHASER each agree that the Escrow Agent shall be
entitled to rely on such notices or certifications as may be furnished to it without inquiring into the
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sufficiency or correctness thereof and without inquiring as to the application of any funds paid or
disbursed pursuant to this Agreement, that the Escrow Agent is discharged and released from any
and all responsibility or liability with respect to the Deposit deposited with it except for the willful
malfeasance ot gross negligence of the Escrow Agent, and that SELLER and PURCHASER shall
jointly and severally indemnify the Escrow Agent and hold him harmless from any claims made
against it with respect to the funds deposited in escrow hereunder.

Section 16.25 Entire Agreement. All understandings and agreements between the
parties prior to the date hereof are merged herein. This Agreement fully and completely expresses
the parties' agreement. This Agreement, together with the Exhibits hereto, contains all of the
promises, agreements, conditions, inducements and understandings between the SELLER and
PURCHASER concerning the Subject Property and the redevelopment thercof, and there are no
promises, agreements, conditions, inducements or understandings, oral or written, expressed or
implied, between them other than as expressly set forth herein and therein.

Section 16.26 Effectiveness. This Agreement shall not be binding or effective
until executed and delivered by the parties hereto.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the partics hereto have duly executed this Agreement as of
the day and year first above written.

VILLAGE OF MAMARONECK

By:
Name:
Title:

WASHINGTONVILLE HOUSING ALLIANCE, INC.

By:
Name:
Title:

Agreed and accepted:

as Escrow Agent

By:

[Signature Page to Land Disposition Agreement]







LIST OF EXHIBITS TO BE ATTACHED HERETO AND MADE A PART
HEREOX:

Schedule A: Metes and bounds description of the parcels comprising the Subject
Property, and metes and bounds description of the whole.

Schedule B:  Conceptual Development Plan Describing Improvements set forth in
Section 2.1 and defined in Section 5.1.




SCHEDULE A

Subject Premises Property Description

Sch. A-1







Robert Sgoizino '

From: Michael Curti <michael.curti@westhab.org>

Sent: Monday, September 23, 2024 5:19 PM

To: Robert Spoizino

Cc: Andrew Germansky; Richard Nightingale

Subject: Hunter Tier MOU and LDA Sample

Attachments: Hunter Terrace MOU - 9.23.24.docx; Hunter Tier LDA.docx

Caution: This emall originated outside of the organization

1 hope this email finds you well.

Attached, please find our proposed Hunter Terrace MOU/term sheet and example LDA, Please review
with your client and let me know if you have any questions. We look forward to working with you and the
rest of the Village team on this important development project. Best Regards, MVC




September 23, 2024

Memorandum of Understanding (the “MOU™) -— Confidential

Overview: This MOU between New York-based non-profit 501(c)(3) entities Washingtonville Housing
Alliance, Inc. and Westhab, Inc. (collectively “WHA” and/or the “Purchaser”) and The Village of
Mamaroneck (the “Village” and/or the “Seller”), outlines the intended partnership between the two parties to
re-develop the Hunter Tier parking lot in the Village of Mamaroneck adding affordable housing above a
rebuilt parking structure (the “Development”).

Summary: Pursuant to the official Request for Proposals: Hunter Tier Ali-Affordable Mixed-Use
Development released by the Village on August 16, 2023 (the “RFP”) and the affirmative vote of the Board
of Trustees on September 10, 2024 to designate WHA as the preferred developer, the Purchaser is proposing
to develop attractive, modern, and high-quality residential housing for lower-income households. The
Development will meet a recognized need for affordable housing and make a substantial investment in the
Village.

Subject Property: The development site is an existing parking lot currently owned and occupied by the
Village of Mamaroneck, and located at 141 Prospect Avenue, Village of Mamaroneck, State of New York
10543 (Section 9, Block 7, Lot 289). The Subject Property has a total lot area of approximately 40,030 SF
and is located in the Village’s C-2 Zoning District.

o Together with the real property, Buyers is purchasing all of the Village’s rights, title and interest in
all leases, fixtures, improvements, air rights, licenses, parking, maps, reports, plans and other such
material and documentation having to do with the Subject Property including all land use
entitlements, governmental permits and allocations, and all governmental and agency approvals as
may exist concerning the Subject Property.

Development: The Buyer will finance and construct an approximately 62-unit residential, multi-family
building consisting entirely of long-term rental units. The Development will include 3 levels of parking with
approximately 180 parking spaces, with 55 of the parking spaces being reserved for the building’s residents
and 125 parking spaces being reserved for the general public (Community Parking). The Development was
designed to be as-oferight according to the Zoning of the Village’s C-2 District.

WHA Submissions — In response to the RFP, the Purchaser has submitted three submissions to the Village
(attached hereto).

1. Original Submission dated October 23, 2023;
2. 1* Amendment dated January 4, 2024;
3. 2" Amendment (and best and final offer) dated August 7, 2024

The terms in this MOU are based on the terms presented to the Village in the threc above described
submissions, with the terms of the more recently dated submissions having precedence over the terms from
the earlier dated submissions.

Village Board of Trustees (Board Resolutions)

e The Village of Mamaroneck Board of Trustees accepted the Purchaser’s best and final offer on
September 10, 2024 by making WHA the ‘Preferred Developer’.




Purchase Agreement: The Purchaser and Seller agree to negotiate in good faith a Purchase and Sale
Agreement based on the following terms.

e Purchase Price: Five million ($5,000,000).

o Purchase Price Reinvestment — The Village shall receive the Purchase Price on the
Acquisition Date and simultaneously reinvest four million five hundred sixty-two
thousand, seven hundred seventy-five dollars ($4,562,775) back into the financing of the
Development to fund the construction of the Community Parking in exchange for an
easement for the construction and use of the Public Parking. The easement shall describe
the responsibilities and obligations of the parties as to the maintenance and operation of the
Public Parking. Thus, the Village will keep four hundred thirty-seven thousand, two
hundred twenty-five dollars ($437,225).

» Acquisition Date (Closing): The Purchaser shall purchase the property from the Village on the same
day that it closes on construction loan and tax credit financing with New York State Homes and
Community Renewal (HCR) and/or an equivalent government lender.

e The Purchaser may assign its interest to any corporation, partnership or limited liability corporation
in which it is the controfling entity without approval from the Village.

e The Purchaser’s obligation to close shail be conditioned on:

o  The approval of a payment in lieu of taxes agreement from each affected tax jurisdiction
that is substantially similar to the real property tax benefits provided to similar developers
of affordable housing in the County of Westchester and that is acceptable to Purchaser in
its sole discretion.

o Purchaser’s ability to obtain financing and investor equity commitments, including a tax
credit allocation, federal, state, and Jocal funding commitments, including but not limited
to County of Westchester New Homes Land Acquisition (NHLA) funding to pay the
Purchase Price, which are sufficient in the reasonable judgment of Purchaser to acquire,
develop, and construct the Development.

o Acquisition of all necessary government approvals needed to complete the Development
and to operate the completed Development on the Subject Property. Seller agrees to use
best efforts to assist Purchaser in obtaining the government approvals.

o The Zoning Ordinance of the Village shall not have been amended in a way that negatively
impacts the Development.

o The delivery of good, marketable title to the Subject Property.

Due Diligence: The Village shall allow the Purchaser to perform all feasibility and due diligence on the
Subject Property. Seller shall fully cooperate with Purchaser in providing any and all information available
regarding the Subject Property, including, but not limited to disclosure of: any tenant leases and extension
options (plus any amendments or modifications thereon) and refated tenant materials if applicable, existing
mortgage documentation and any guarantees, any certificate(s) of occupancy, any existing environmental and
engineering reports (e.g., Phase I, Phase II, geotechnical, soil, etc..), existing title reports, current or pending
litigation and disputes, liens, lis pendens, easements, tax records, and documents, any third-party service
contracts, and parcel map(s), surveys, zoning letter(s), plats and other commercially reasonable requests.
Purchaser shall also have the right to perform customary title searches, market studies, surveys,
environmental and engineering inspections, appraisal inspections, zoning review, site visits and other due
diligence matters during this time period. In addition, Purchaser may seek financial commitments from debt
lenders, equity investors and governmental agencies (including but not limited to loans, grants and/or low-
income housing tax credit allocations issues by the State of New York acting by and through HCR, the Village
and the County of Westchester.

Financing: The Developer anticipates securing funding through HCR’s Low-Income Housing Tax Credit
(LLIHTC) program, NHLA, and other available federal, state and local funding sources.

















































Robert Spolzino

000000 i AR
From: Michael Curii <michael.curti@westhab.org>
Sent: Friday, October 18, 2024 10:40 AM
To: Robert Spolzino
Cc: Andrew Germansky; Richard Nightingale
Subject: Re: Hunter Tier MOU and LDA Sample
Attachments: Hunter Terrace MOU - VOM 2024,10,10 (WHA Comments 10172024).docx

Caution: This email originated outside of the organization

Dear Bob: Thank you for sharing the term sheet. I've attached our revisions for your review. We believe
we’re not too far apart and noticed a consistent theme in our comments. Like any developer, we're
seeking as much certainty as possible, along with genuine partnership from the Village. If provided with a
fair playing field, we're confident we can bring this project to fruition, which would be a significant
achievement for all the administrations involved in making it happen. If you would like to have a call to
discuss further edits, please let us know. We look forward to hearing from you soon. Thanks again and
have a great weekend. Best Regards, MVC

On Tue, Oct 15, 2024 at 3:23 PM Robert Spolzino <RSpolzino@abramslaw.com> wrote:

Mike - Attached for your review is our revised proposed term sheet. Let me know when you and your team have
had a chance to review and | will set up a meeting with Chuck and our team. Bob

Robert Spolzino, Esq. | Executive Partner

White Plains Office
81 Main Street Suite 400

White Plains, New York 10601

F 914-607-7010 | Office
914-607-7102 | Direct

FENSTERMAN, LLP 516-368-9596 |  Fax

RSpolzino@Abramslaw.com

ABRAMS

ATTORNEYS AT LAW

www.abramslaw.com
Long island - Brookiyn - White Plalns - Rochester - Albany R

CONFIGENTIALIFY NOTICE: Fhis e-madl may be an pitomep-client cormpanication snd may conlain inforatation tihat is pivileged and
conidantial 3d s sherefore sulject 10 agaf restrictions and pecalties regarding its voautivized disclosura or other wse, W yau are
niot fhe frtended rociplent you are probibited from copying, forwarding, disteibuting, disseminating, or atheavise vlosdmy IS e-inal

At gy AHAcApents Rerets, Ploase potify the sender and dofoie this e-madf ff pou sre nol the intended recipivil,

From: Michael Curti <michael.curtidwesthab.org>
Sent: Thursday, October 10, 2024 11:01 AM

























Dated: . 2024 (“Effective Date™)

By:
Title:





























































Robert SBoIzino —

From: Michael Curti <michael.curti@westhab.org>
Sent: Wednesday, November 6, 2024 9:11 AM
To: Robert Spolzino

Ce: Richard Nightingale; Andrew Germansky
Subject: Hunter Tier Term Sheet

Caution: This email originated outslde of the organization

Bob: | hope this email finds you well. | should have mentioned this to you on Monday, but i'm going to be
out of the country from Saturday until next Friday. Between flying and the location I'll be travelling to, the
wifi may be be non-existent or spotty at times. Have you had a chance to connect with the Board and
Chuck on our responses? Would it be possible to squeeze in a meeting tomorrow or Friday to socialize
issues, if there are any? Please let me know. Thanks! Best, MVC
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30.  In 2005, the Town amended its zoning code to provide for a preference
system in the allocation of so-called “middle-income dwelling units.” See L.L. No. 12-
2005.

31.  The Town’s zoning code cuirently provides that:

Middle-income families applying for middle-income
dwelling units shall be selected on the basis of the
following categories of priority:

1) Full-time Town of Bedford municipal employees and
active members of the Bedford Fire Departiment, Katonah
Fire Department, the Bedford Hills Fire Department and
the Katonah Bedford Hills Volunteer Ambulance Corps.

2) Employees of schools within the Town of Bedford that
provide any or all of kindergarten through twelfth-grade
education.

3) Residents of the Town of Bedford.

4) Other persons employed in the Town of Bedford.

5) Parents and children of residents of the Town of Bedford.

6) Other residents of Westchester County.

7) Other persons employed Westcheéter County.

8) All others.

Zoning Code, §125-56(E).

32.  According to Blue Mountain’s 2015 Amnual Report (the most recent report
publicly available), the Town has 16 middle-income units, which are awarded according
to the preference system set forth above. See 2015 Annual Report at 4-6.

33.  In addition, the Town has 7 units “reserve[d]” for “Bedford residents” at

the Woodcrest Senior Condos. See 2015 Annnal Repott at S.
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34,  More recently, in response to Westchester County’s obligations under the
consent decree in United States et al v. Westchester County, No. 06 Civ. 2860 (DLC)
(S.D.N.Y.), the Town has also added “affordable affirmatively furthering fair housing”
(“AAFFH”) units, which are for households whose aggregate income does not exceed
80% of Westchester County’s area median income (“AMI”) and which are marketed in
accordance with the Westchester County Fair and Affordable Housing Affirmative
Marketing Plan. See Zoning Code, § 125-3; 2015 Annual Report at 4-6.

35.  Westchester County does not have a county-wide zoning code. Each town
within the County has its own zoning code and other towns that are of similar size to

Bedford have their own affordable housing programs included within their zoning codes.

The Town’s Preferences Favor White Applicants Over African American
Applicants

36.  The Town’s preference system for the allocation of middle-income
housing favors white households by making it more likely that the recipients of middle-
income housing units will be white and by subjecting African American applicants to
longer waiting periods for such umits.

37.  The Town’s population is predominantly white. As of the 2010 Census,
the Town’s population was 17,335. That Census shows that the Town’s population was
approximately 86% white and only 5% African American, whereas the Counfy’s
population of 949,113 was 68% white and almost 15% African American.

38.  On information and belief, the small percentage 6f the Town’s population
that is African American is artificially inflated by the Bedford Hills Correctional Facility,
which houses approximately 409 African American inmates (7.e. approximately 49% of

the facility’s total inmate population). Cleatly, none of these inmates is eligible for
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affordable housing in the Town.
Bedford Resident Preff:’r'ence Favors White People

39.  The third residency preference is for residents of the Town of Bedford.

40.  This third preference favors white people because the overwhelming
majority of the Town’s residents (86%) are white and only 5% are African American.

41.  According to the 2010 Census, 76% to 78% of the Town’s households that
are income-eligible for “middle-income” housing (per the Zoning Code’s income
eligibility limits) are white.

42.  According fo the 2010 Census, only 2 to 3% of the Town households that
are income-eligible for “middle-income” housing are African-American.

43. By contrast, according to the 2010 Census, 18% of the Westchester
County households that are are income-eligible for Bedford “middle-income” housing are
Afiican American.

The First Preference for Town Employees and Firvefighters Also Favors Whites

A4,  The first preference (for Town employees and volunteer firefighters) and
the second preference (for school employees in the Town) also favor white applicants
over African American applicants.

45.  On information and belief, the majority of the members df the three listed
volunteer fire departments and one listed volunteer ambulance corps are residents of the
Town of Bedford which, as set forth above, is majority white,

46.  The Bedford Fire Department requires residency within the Bedford Fire

District in order to qualify for membership.
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FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
(Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3604(a))

70.  Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege the foregoing paragraphs of their complaint
as though fully set forth herem.

71.  Defendants’ conduct as described above makes dwellings unavailable
because of race in violation of the Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3604(a).

72.  Plaintiffs are aggrieved persons as defined by 42 U.S.C. § 3602(1).
Plaintiffs have been injured by Defendants’ discriminatory conduct, and have suffered
damages as a result.

73.  Accordingly, under 42 U.S.C. § 3613(c), Plaintiffs are entitled to actual
damages, injunctive relief, and reasonable attomeys’ fees and costs.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
(Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3604(b))

74.  Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege the foregoing paragraphs of their éompiaint
as though fully set forth herein.

75. Defendants’ conduct as described above discriminates in the terms,
conditions, or privileges of the rental of a dwelling because of race, in violation of the
Fair Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 3604(b).

76.  Plaintiffs are aggrieved persons as defined by 42 U.S.C. § 3602().
Plaintiffs have been injured by Defendant’s discrimmatory conduct, and they have
suffered damages as a result.

77. Accordingly, under 42 U.S.C. § 3613(c), Plaintiffs are entitled to actual

damages, injunctive relief, and reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs.
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